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CARL BARCKHOFF 

AND THE BARCKHOFF 

CHURCH ORGAN COMPANY 

Carl Barckhoff - about 1880 

Carl Barckhoff, one of the foremost Midwest late 19th 
and early 20th century organ builders, was born in 
Wiedenbruck, Westphalia, Germany, in 1849. His father, 
organ builder Felix Barckhoff, brought the family to the 
United States in 1865, and in that same year the first 
Barckhoff organ was built in this country. The firm 
established at 1240 Hope Street, Philadelphia, was for a time 
during the 1870's known as Felix Barckhoff & Sons, the sons 
being Carl and Lorenz. 

Felix Barckhoff died in 1878, 1 and at about this same time 
Carl relocated the firm in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania, 
in an area which is today North Side Pittsburgh. An organ 
for the Presbyterian Church of Salem, Ohio was built in this 
plant, and at the dedication of this organ on September 23, 
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The 1880 Barckhoff in the Presbyterian Church, Salem, Ohio 

Removed in 1937 

by Vernon Brown 

1880, "the church filled with a fashionable and cultured 
audience," 2 Carl himself played. Cora Hawley, the 
daughter of an influencial man in Salem, was the soprano 
soloist, and this marked the beginning of a romance 
between Barckhoff and Miss Hawley. 

In 1881 Carl married Miss Hawley, and in 1882, having 
obtained financial backing locally, he relocated the 
Barckhoff Church Organ Company in Salem. The new 
factory at 31 Vine Street "had an organ hall 35 feet high, 
which made it possible to construct the largest organs built 
at that time. According to records, most of the men 
employed by Mr. Barckhoff had learned their trade in 
Germany. The company had 'an enduring reputation 
throughout the country for the beauty and perfection of its 
instruments.' "3 

The Barckhoffs took an active part in the musical life of 
Salem. The Salem Republican on April 27, 1882 reported the 
first regular meeting of the Salem Choral Union "at 
Barckhoff's Organ Hall, where a fine pipe organ has been 
set up. The voices were tested, and classified by the 
director, and regular musical drill commenced. Prof. 
Barckhoff's experience as a musical director both in this 
country and in Europe,4 have given him a high standard of 
excellence, and the Choral Union should be congratulated 
on securing his services." In 1883 the Choral Union 
presented Haydn's Creation; the program lists "Musical 
Director PROF. CARL BARCKHOFF" and "Mrs. Cora 
Barckhoff" heads the list of sopranos. 

In spite of periodic financial crises, the business grew. The 
1889 Salem City Directory lists the Barckhoff Church Organ 
Company as having fifty-four employees in seventeen 
classifications: carpenter, wood worker, cabinet maker, 
works, pipe maker, pipe decorator, painter, tuner, voicer, 

1. As nearly as can be determined. Felix is last listed with a home address in 
Philadelphia city directories in 1878, and Pittsburgh city directories list 
"Barckhoff, Elizabeth, widow of Felix" beginning with the 1676-79directory. 

2. The Salem News, June 5, 1956. Source of quotation unidentified. 

3. The Salem News, June 5, 1956. Source of quotation unidentified. 

4 Carl was 16 years old when he came to the United States.
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The Largest Pipe Organ Works in the World 

We solicit correspondel!ce from those desir­

ous of secur1ng an organ of the highest grade 

and quality in both workmanship and material. 

As our facilities are unusually large, we are 

enabled to build a superior organ at a reason-

hie price, and in comparatively short time, if 

necessary. We manufacture all parts of the 

organ ourselves. 

The Carl Barckhoff Church Organ Co., 
SALEM, OHJ:O, 

finisher, traveling salesman, foreman, bench hand, 
engineer, teamster, bookkeeper, and stenographer. 

An 1891 ad for the Carl Barckhoff Church Organ 
Company claims the company was "Established 1850" and is 
"The Largest Pipe Organ Works in the World." Carl later 
dropped this last claim, but for some years he continued to 
advertise "Established 1850" - at which time he was one 
year old. 

By 1892, agencies were established in New York City; 
Atlanta, Georgia; Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania; Chicago, 
Illinois; Minneapolis, Minnesota; and Washington, D.C., 
and a news item mentions "a very fine organ for the St. 
Marcus Lutheran Church, corner Bushwick Avenue and 
Jefferson Street, Brooklyn, N.Y., which was greatly admired 
by the leading organists of that city."5 

The company contracted to build a large organ for the 
1893 Columbian Exposition in Chicago. "A four manual 
instrument by the Carl Barckhoff Church Organ Co. of 
Salem, Ohio was to have been placed in the Music Hall, but 
architectural changes in the structure of the building made 
installation impossible."6 On April 29, 1893 the American 

Art Journal reported: "The Barckhoff Organ Co., of Salem, 
Ohio, who were to build the organ for the Music Hall in the 
Columbian Exposition grounds, have received a check for 
$10,000 as a forfeit from the Exposition authorities because 
the organ was not installed in Music Hall as contracted, 
owing to the opposition of Theo. Thomas." Theodore 
Thomas was a noted orchestral conductor of the time. It is 
said that this organ was later shipped to South America. 

In the panic of 1893 the company had serious financial 
difficulties, and in 1895, Carl, whose position was then 
Superintendent, withdrew from the firm, following which 
the name was changed to the Salem Church Organ 
Company.7 

5. American Art Journal, May 2, 1892. 

6. Orpha Ochse, The History of the Organ in the United States (Bloomington
& London, 1975), p. 212.
7. "The Karl [sic] Barckhoff Church Organ Company has taken legal steps for
the changing of its present corporate name to that of the Salem Church 
Organ Company, Karl Barckhoff having withdrawn from the company, as 
previously reported, and established himself in business in Mendelssohn,
Pa." The American Art Journal, September 28, 1895.

Barckhoff then re-established the Barckhoff Church 
Organ Company in Mendelssohn, Pennsylvania, a 
community now incorporated in Clairton, Pennsylvania.8 It 
was while Barckhoff was located in Mendelssohn that his 
love affair with one of his employees caused a great scandal, 
and his wife divorced him. The July 17, 1897 issue of the 
American Art Journal reported: "Carl Barckhoff, the 
Mendelssohn, Pa. Church Organ builder, has been sued for 
divorce. His stenographer has been named by Mrs. 
Barckhoff as co-respondent." The divorce was granted in 
April 1898. The court records indicate: "three children were 
born of said marriage to-wit: (1) Sara, born 1883, (2) Henry 
Carl, born 1884, (3) Frederick Samuel, born 1890" and name 
Florence Shaffer as the person with whom "the said Carl 
Barckhoff committed adultery at 414 6th Avenue, 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. 

Memories, a booklet commemorating Clairton's 
twentyfifth anniversary, mentions Barckhoff's sojourn in 
Mendelssohn as follows: 

"The Carl Borckoff Pipe Organ Company [sic] was 
located in a brick building approximately 350 feet long 
facing the Pennsylvania Railroad. The building was built 
around 1889 or 1890 for the Mendelssohn Piano Company, 
but later nearly all the front portion of the building was 
rented to the organ company. 

"The mechanics employed by the Borckoff Organ 
Company were highly skilled in their various lines of work. 
All were natives of Germany and numbered about 60 men." 

The men "were militarily trained to the nth degree. 
Almost without exception during good weather, every 
Sunday morning, Mr. Borckoff, in full regalia of a Germany 
[sic) Army Officer, rank not recalled, astride a high-spirited 
black horse, would lead his uniformed men in a formal 
military marching order to a level area on the hill - Fourth 
Street North - between Mendelssohn and Pittsburgh 
Avenues, where intensive military drills, with arms, were 
indulged in, Mr. Borckoff directing with pomp and 
ceremony. Periodically, about twice annually, target 
practice was deemed a necessary part of the military 
training of Mr. Borckoff's men. Large, heavy, wooden 
backstops, probably 20 or 24 inches in thickness, filled with 
sand, were erected for targets near the river bank in the 
field north of the ... factory." This military training was 
"looked upon in wonderment by the residents of the 
countryside, who were privileged to be witnesses. 

Barckhoff and his Schuetzen-Gilde 

(Barckhoff on horse in foreground) 

8. The Pennsylvania State Gazetteer for 1903-04 lists "Mendelssohn, Pop. 
1,050. On the Monongahela River and on the Penn. R.R. (Peter's Creek
Station), in Allegheny Co., 18 miles south of Pittsburgh." In 1907 the towns of
Mendelssohn, Wilson, and Coal Valley united to form a community which 
later became the Wilson Borough of present day Clairton. 
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"In the fall of 1897 the building burned to the gound, 
destroying all equipment housed in it as well as several 
unassembled pipe organs, ... costly tools, and valuable 
woods and other materials. It is believed the fire was of 
incendiary origin, and that no insurance was in force at the 
time of the fire; it, according to rumor, having lapsed a short 
time before." 

Barckhoff lost no time in re-establishing his company in 
another location. On October 30, 1897 the American Art 
Journal reported: "Carl Barckhoff, the organ builder, has 
formed a new company, who have purchased the 
Methodist Church at Latrobe, Pa., which will be fitted up at 
once as an organ factory." 

In the spring of 1900 Barckhoff again relocated the 
company, this time in Pomeroy, Ohio, and sometime 
thereafter he married Florence Shaffer, the woman named 
by Cora as corespondent. This marriage, too, ended in 
divorce a few years later when Carl became involved with a 
young woman thirty-five years his junior. The young 
woman was Lena Graber, and about 1906 Carl and Lena 
were married. 

A great many organs were built in the Pomeroy plant. 
Many were stock models, reasonably priced, and many 
were sold through catalogs. A Barckhoff Church Organ Co. 
catalog published soon after the move to Pomeroy lists two 
one-manual instruments, eight two-manual instruments, 
and two three-manual instruments, the smallest twomanual 
having nine stops, nine ranks, the largest threemanual 
having thirty-five stops, thirty-nine ranks. Manual compass 
is 61 notes throughout; pedal compass is 27 notes except for 
the largest instrument, which has 30 notes. All have 
balanced swell pedal, and even the smallest twomanual has 
combination pedals. All have couplers "operated by piston 
knobs placed under their respective manuals." 
Photographs show pipe fences, lavishly decorated, with 
little or no wood above the impost. Some fronts have 
attached electric light brackets, some have gas. 

By 1902 a branch office had been opened in St. Louis, and 
the company was shipping organs "at the rate of one 
instrument every three to four days."9 Another item 
mentions a record-breaking week in which seven contracts 
were received.10 By 1904 the company was shipping "an 
average of three organs per week, and nothing smaller than 
two-manual instruments."11 

In the 1890s Barckhoff had begun to use tubular 
pneumatic action in the pedal of some of his organs, and 
although he continued to build mechanical action 
instruments, he now built "entirely pneumatic" and 
"electric organs" as well, some with detached console. 
Wind was supplied by water motors or electric motors, as 
well as manually. 

9. The Music Trades, March 29, 1902 

10. The Music Trades, July 26, 1902 

11. The Music Trades, June 4, 1904 

AUCHINCLOSS PIPE ORGAN SERVICE 

Gordon S. Auchincloss 
(914) 677-8001

Woodstock Road 
Millbrook, N.Y. 12545 

Barckhoff was instrumental in the establishment of the 
American Organ Supply Company in Pomeroy. The 
December 2, 1901 issue of The Music Trades reported: 
"They expect to manufacture all parts that are necessary in 
the construction of an organ, such as metal and wood pipes, 
reeds, action parts, leather and glue, [and] to import felts 
and such articles as they may be unable to make to supply 
the trade . ... large and roomy factories are now being built 
in Pomeroy, and the company will be ready for business 
about January 1, 1902." 

Barckhoff at first served the company as manager, but in 
an article in the February 27, 1903 issue of The Music Trades 
he announced: "With the consolidation of the American 
Organ Supply Co., which we purchased for thirty-five 
thousand dollars, we are most excellently equipped and are 
entirely independent. We make everything ourselves, from 
the raw material, that we use in the construction of our 
organs." The American Organ Supply Company was 
apparently quite successful, as later articles mention the 
large number of orders from other builders for action parts, 
pipes, reeds, and the like. A report of a dedication of a nev. 
Barckhoff organ in 1903 mentions "every component part ... 
from the smallest screw to the largest pipe" being made in 
Pomeroy.12 

AMERICAN 
Organ Supply 
Company, 

POMEROY, OHIO. 

Tia• 01111 
Co11c.m llaflt 
Manuf•etuN• 
and Handt... 
Eoeryllal"6 ,., 
O,wan Maltw7 

W'S NAa& A ••&CIALTT or nLLIIIO AJfY 0-&ll 
AT A NONIUIT"a -.TICL 

In 1908 the Barckhoff Church Organ Company 
celebrated its 100th anniversary. (Carl seems to have 
conveniently forgotten his earlier claim that the company 
was founded in 1850.) A booklet issued by the company 
stated: "It is now 100 years since the first Barckhoff organ 
was built and fifty years since the first instrument was 
erected in America, which was sent from Germany to 
Copiapo, Chile . ... Thereafter a large number of them were 
sent to South America. In 1865 the first Barckhoff organ was 
built in the United States, since which time, without 
interruption, there have been erected in all parts of the 
United States over 2,500 Barckhoff organs."13 

In April 1913 a disastrous flood along the Ohio River "did 
great damage to the factory of the company and destroyed 
all accounts and records in its office."14 Shortly thereafter, 
Barckhoff, taking a number of his employees with him, 
relocated in Basic, Virginia, a community now incorporated 

12. The Music Trades, July 18, 1903 

13. The Music Trades, June 20, 1908 

14. The Review, July 19, 1913 

Beaudry 
PHILIP A. BEAUDRY & COMPANY 

68 Washington St. Lowell, Mass. 01851 

Designers & Builders of Tracker Pipe Organs
lto:n==-======:ct'O<X=====� 
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husbands. He was a man of strong opinions, as can be seen 
in the following article: 

CARL BARCKHOFF'S VIEWS 

On March 22 [1902] THE MUSIC TRADES published 
an interview with E. H. Lemare, the organist of 
Carnegie Music Hall, in Pittsburg, Pa., in which he 
criticised quite severely the pipe-organs 
manufactured in America. This interview was shown 
to Carl Barckhoff, the head of the Barckhoff Church 
Organ Co., of this city, and after reading it over 
carefully, he made the following statement: 

"Professor Lemare is hardly long enough in this 
country to criticise our work. Concerning the action 
of the American organs, there can be no question. 
They are superior to anything in the world. 

"As to the tone of the English organ being superior, 
it should be taken into consideration that our 
American churches are small, as a rule, with low 
ceilings. Our voicers are accustomed to voicing the 
organ so that the sound is pleasing when coming 
direct from the pipe to the ear. The character of our 
American church music does not allow a harsh and 
powerful tone; it would be out o·f place in our small 
churches. Of course, our American organ builders try 
to please their customers, and I doubt whether the 
English organ builder could build an organ to please 
our American people. 

"I have been practically engaged in the organ 
business in this country for over thirty years. I have 
had voicers of all nationalities in my employ and find 
that the English voicer, as a general rule, is stupid 
alongside of our German-American and American 
voicers; in fact, their ability cannot be compared, and 
I cannot understand why we should not be able to 
produce a quality of tone fully as good as, if not 
superior to, the English. 

"We have only a few recital or concert organs in the 
United States, and if it were not for the munificence of 
Mr. Carnegie, we could count them on the ends of 
our fingers. I doubt very much if Mr. Lemare could 
show us an organ in England that could compare in 
tone quality with the organ in the Carnegie Library, at 
Pittsburg, and it is not the best standard of American 
voicing. 

Custom made Organs, Selected rebuilding, 

Custom designed additions 

TERRENCE P. SCHOENSTEIN 

Organbuilder Workshop 

1078 Lunalilo Home Road Honolulu, Hawaii 96825 

"I note further that, among other things, Mr. 
Lemare says the American pedal-board is defective 
and that it is only suitable for playing accompani­
ments, chants, and hymns in churches. I do not 
think the man knows what he is talking about. The 
present pedal-board, as I well know, was adopted for 
the sake of uniformity, and I know of several good 
builders who sacrificed their own ideas about pedals 
in order to have this uniformity in pedal-boards as to 
scale and distance between keys, and I am sure that 
after Mr. Lemare plays awhile on a straight pedal he 
can handle it fully as well as one of his radiating and 
concave pedals. 

"If he says the radiating and concave pedal is Mr. 
Willis' pattern, he is mistaken. This pedal-board was 
first made by Schulze, of Paulincelle, Germany. It was 
advocated by Professor Topfer, of Weimar, in his 
work on organ building, and was used by a number of 
German organ builders. During the '40s and '50s Mr. 
Schulze built a number of organs for England, and it is 
very likely that this is where Mr. Willis got his idea. 

"The Barckhoff Church Organ Co. manufactured 
them in the early '40s, and the last one was made in 
the United States in 1881 [sic] and is to-day in the 
Presbyterian Church at Salem, 0., the organ being 
built by myself. We then adopted the straight 
pedal-board, which was adopted by all the most 
prominent builders in this country, making the key­
board and the distance between the key-boards 
uniform."21 

Competition was keen, and Barckhoff seems to have had 
a reputation for good work at rock-bottom prices. 
According to Barnes and Gammons, "The cost of organs 
varied in the nineteenth century from the very lowest, 
asked by Barckhoff, to the very highest, obtained by 
Roosevelt."22 In the preface of the catalog mentioned 
above, Barckhoff says, "An inspection of factory, in every 
detail, is invited, so that parties may be convinced that our 
prices are low." 

Barckhoff organs are unfortunately not identified by 
opus numbers, and except for an inventory of machinery at 
Basic, all company records have been lost. Nameplates have 
merely his name and location, "Carl Barckhoff / Salem 
Ohio" for example, engraved on a one-and-a-half by fou; 
inch ivory plate on his earlier instruments or as a stencil or 
decal on the nameboard of his later instruments. The 
nameboards of many of his instruments also carry an 
elaborate guarantee: "This is to Certify that this instrument 
is hereby Warranted for the term of TEN YEARS from the 
date of its manufacture, and should the instrument with 
proper care and use prove defective in material or 
workmanship within that time, it is hereby agreed to put it 
in good repair at our expense." 

Most of his organs were of course built for churches, but 
he also built residence organs and organs for recital halls, 
Masonic temples, and at least one college. His organs were 
indeed, as he claimed, "erected in all parts of the United 
States" from Santa Barbara, California to Bath, Maine; from 
Grand Forks, North Dakota to Birmingham, Alabama and 
21. The Music Trades, April 12, 1902. 

22. William H Barnes and Edward B. Gammons, Two Centuries of American 
Organ Building (Glen Rock, New Jersey, 1970), p. 36. 
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Barckhoff in Blacksburg 
by Thomas Sayler Brown 

Ed. Note: An architectural designer presently working in 
Nantucket, Massachusetts, Thomas Sayler Brown helped 
supervise the renovation of the pipe organ discussed in this 
article while satisfying other architectural degree 
requirements at Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State 
University, graduating with a Bachelor of Architecture 
degree in 1977. During a two-year work/study leave from 
campus, he received some practical repair experience 
assisting Frederick B. Sponsler in many pipe organ repair 
jobs. 

After his Pomeroy, Ohio, plant was destroyed in a flood in 
1913, Carl Barckhoff moved his organ company to Basic, 
Virginia, an area which has become part of the present city 
of Waynesboro. In 1916, he declared bankruptcy, and he 
died three years later. He is buried in an unmarked grave in 
Riverview Cemetery in Waynesboro. The latest known 
extant pipe organ built by Barckhoff now stands in the 
Performing Arts Building at Virginia Polytechnic Institute 
and State University, Blacksburg, Virginia. 

This tracker pipe organ was first installed in the Women's 
Memorial Evangelical Lutheran Church, now Trinity 
Evangelical Lutheran Church, of Pulaski, Virginia, in April, 
1915, the church discarded it in 1956 during a renovation of 
the building, but the contractor removed most of the organ 
parts to his barn (except for the original case and swell box). 
After an unsuccessful attempt at restoration in 1964, Dr. 
Thomas 0. MacAdoo, professor of classical languages at 
VPl&SU, removed the parts to his home in Blacksburg. 
Rehabilitation began again in 1972 at the College of 
Architecture at VPI under Dr. MacAdoo's and my 
supervision and proceeded off and on for the next five 
years. It is now installed in room 105 of the Performing Arts 
Building where it is being used as a practice organ. 
Frederick B. Sponsler, an organ builder in Philadelphia, 
provided much needed advice and assistance in the 
restoration. 

This two-manual organ was originally designed to stand 
entirely within the church on 100 square feet of floor. It was 
nearly 18 feet tall with its 41 speaking screen pipes (off-set 
bass pipes of the Open Diapason, Dulciana, and Swell 
Salicional stops) arranged above the console and wrapping 
crown-like around two sides of the organ. These screen 
pipes were painted tan with a fleur-de-lis design stenciled 
in gold. They were later sprayed gold, but the paint has 
been cleaned off. The organ is equipped with Roosevelt­
type coupler action. Air was always supplied with an electric 
blower; nevertheless, a bellows signal and pressure 
indicator were provided. The name-board has an elegant 
gold seal at the left which proclaims a ten year warranty on 
this 63-year-old organ. Alfred Deutschmann signed the 
pipes. 

GEORGE BOZEMAN, JR. 

RECITALS 

The 1915 Barckhoff now in Balcksburg, Va. 

Because of the low ceiling height in room 105, the screen 
pipes now stand at floor level. A standard AGO pedal board 
repiaces the original 27 note straight board, and a new 32 
note pneumatic action-box, patterned after the original 
design, fits the new concave radiating pedal board. The 
mechanical pedal couplers have been extended to play the 
full pedal compass. All the chests have been thoroughly 
refurbished, a new swell box built, and an oak case of 
contemporary design realized. Many of the original pipes 
were lost or severely damaged. The Swell Flute Harmonic 
and stopped Diapason have been replaced with Hook and 
Hastings pipes of the 1890 period; only the first C,C#, and D 
of the Stopped Diapason are the original Barckhoff pipes. 
Treble pipes of the Dulciana and Salicional have been 
replaced. A modern high speed blower is housed within the 
case. 

While some pipes have of necessity been replaced, the 
stop list remains as in the original installation: 

Swell 8' Stopped Diapason 

8' Salicional 

4' Flute Harmonic 

Great: 8' Open Diapason 

8' Dulciana 

4' Principal 

Pedal: 16' Sub Bass 

Couplers Swell to Great 

Swell to Pedal 

Great to Pedal 

The manuals are 61 note compass; the original 27 note 
pedal has been extended to 32 notes. As with all Barckhoff 
organs, this instrument is not identified with any opus 
number. 

Berea College 

,oo:, 

JOHN COURTER 

M.M., F.A.G.O.

Berea, Kentucky 40404 
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23rd National 
Convention Report 

About 200 members and friends of the Organ Historical 
Society gathered at the University of Lowell in Lowell, 
Massachusetts, for the 23rd annual national convention of 
the Society which was held June 26 through 29, 1978. If an 
award were given for the member traveling farthest it 
would go to Vernon Brown of Tokyo, Japan, whose sole 
purpose was to attend the Convention. 

The National Council meeting was scheduled for 10AM 
on Monday, June 26. Minutes of this meeting will be found 
elsewhere in this issue of THE TRACKER. One of the 
preliminary programs was a concert by the choir of boys 
and men from St. Paul's Cathedral, Boston, directed by 
Thomas Murray, which actually was performing for the 
National Association of Singing Teachers at Durgin Hall, a 
concurrent convention. But the Council's business 
schedule was such that this program could not be attended 
by Councillors, although other early arrivals bore witness to 
the excellence of the choir's work. 

The new Schlicker tracker organ, completed just one 
month before our convention opened, is located in Fisher 
Recital Hall of Durgin Hall at Lowell University, a room of 
unusual modern architecture and almost perfect acoustics. 
Carlton Russell played a recital here on Monday evening, 
employing music of four centuries in a program which 
afforded ample display of the organ's resources. We heard 

exemplary performances of works by LLfbeck, Bohm, 
Franck, Krapf, Wyton and J.S. Bach. This listener particularly 

enjoyed the Prelude and Fugue in E by Ldbeck, Alec 
Wyton's "Flourish" and the Bach Passacaglia and Fugue in C 
Minor. 

Tuesday morning was completely occupied with the 
Annual Meeting of the Society, minutes of which appear 
elsewhere in this issue of THE TRACKER. We congratulate 
James McFarland and Donald Rockwood on their 
reelection to the posts of Secretary and Treasurer 
respectively, and welcome Samuel Walter and William 
VanPelt Ill as Councillors for three years. We sang "Bro. 
James' Air". 

The afternoon began with a demonstration recital by 
Robert Schuneman (one time editor of THE DIAPASON) at 
the First Parish Church in Billerica. His program consisted of 
Bach's transcription of the Concerto in G by Ernst and John 
Knowles Paine's Concert Variations on "Austria". The 
Emmons Howard 2-manual of 1890 has been rebuilt by 
Andover Organ Company (1970) with considerable tonal 
changes. The hymn was "Austria", appropriately. 

Traveling in four yellow school buses, we heard Leo 
Abbott in a demonstation recital at the First Congregational 
Church in Billerica. Again, the S.S. Hamill of 1890 had been 
rebuilt by Andover Organ Co., but with fewer changes. The 
program included works by Mozart, Reger, Langlais and 
Mushel, all performed with good taste. The hymn was 
"Llanfair". 

Michael Ambros, a recent graduate of Lowell University, 
played the 1884 Ryder Organ at the Methodist Church, 
Woburn. His choice of two Vierne pieces seemed 

St. Charles Borromeo Church, Woburn 

First Congregational Church, Woburn 

... 

Pedal Piano, First Unitarian Church, Woburn 
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An Unknown Organ Looking for a Home 
by Charles Ferguson 

Ed Note: The instrument described here is currently stored 
in a barn belonging to Mr. Ferguson. Interested parties are 
invited to inspect the organ, particularly those who might 
have or be able to find clues as to its identity. The author 
also has in storage a large chamber organ that was salvaged 
from the attic of the Universalist-Unitarian Church at Saco, 

Maine, where it had lain since 1853. Photos of this were 
displayed at the National Convention of OHS at Lebanon in 
1976. 

The Universalist-Unitarian Church in Old Town, Maine, 
has reached the end of its long career: it is to be torn down, 
and the lot will become the site of an apartment house. The 
church was originally a plain, square meetinghouse and 
dates from the first half of the last century. In the 1890's, it 
was turned 45° and enlarged on a new square ground plan. 
A porch, vestibule, and classroom were added, plus a tower 
with Italianate loggia and onion dome. The organ was 
rebuilt and fitted into a niche at one corner of the sanctuary. 
Two colleagues and I made an inventory of the organ and 
asked to be notified when a decision had been made about 
disposing of it. Following our suggestion, the Church voted 
to have the Organ Clearing House remove the instrument. 

There are two manuals and 16 stops, in a Greek-revival 
case with three towers and two flats. The round center 
tower has been cut down considerably, with the result that 
its cornice rests on those of the flat end towers. The pilasters 
and the top of the center tower have been altered with the 
addition of Victorian turnings and moldings. At first glance, 
the base appears too large for the upper part, because 
cornice moldings have been added to the impost and 
extend well outside the profile of the rest. 

It is a G organ, although the manuals installed in 1892 have 
the low G#. These manuals lie forward of the original 
location, as do the stop jambs, the latter standing on the 
grooves for the sliding console doors, which are lost. 
Similarly, the hitch-down swell pedal occupies a new slot, 
forward of the original one. All the key action and most of 
the pedal action is new, but the stop action was retained 
with only the necessary changes. The Great chest is centered 
towards the front, at impost level. The Swell chest stands 
behind and above it, with the Choir chest mounted at the 
bass end of the Swell, at the same level. The two Pedal chests 
stand on the floor along the inside of the case, at either end. 
The double-rise reservoir has two feeders, hinged at the 
front. The blower handle was originally at the C# end, but it 
has been shifted to the C end. 1 The handle was accessible 
but some six feet from the floor of a stairwell landing: 
apparently the electric blower was provided at the time of 
this installation. 

The manuals have a compass of 58 notes, GG to e3 

(including GG#), The Great is an N chest; the Swell, an A 
chest of 37 notes (e to e3); and the Choir, a chromatic chest 
of 21 notes, GG to d#. The Pedal chests have a combined 
compass of 13 notes, CC to C, while the pedal keyboard has 
20, extending up to G through coupler only. The 23 
drawstops are arranged in two vertical rows, one on each 
jamb. The following table summarizes the information we 
have gathered thus far concerning the stops: 

1. Since this is a G organ, the C and C# ends are in fact reversed: I use the 
terms in their usual sense. 

Left Jamb 
(Name on face2) 

Blank 

Oboe 8'* 

(Swell Cornet) 

(Swell Principal) 

Diapason Treble* 

Dulciana Swell 

(Swell Open Diapason) 

(Choir ... ?) 

(Choir Stopped Diapason) 

(Pedal Double Open Diap ) 

Pedal Swell * 

(Pedal Great) 

Right Jamb 

Tremulo* 

(Great Melodia) 

Fifteenth * 

Gamba Great* 

Flute Great 

Octave 4'* 

Melodia Treble* 

Melodia Bass* 

Description 

Bellows signal (missing) 

"Swell Hautbois" 

"Swell Cornet" IV (Tierce missing) 

"Swell Principal" 4' 

"Swell Stopped Diapason" 8' 

"Swell Dulciana" 8' 

"Swell Open Diapason" 8' 

(Pipes missing) 

"Choir Stopped Diapason" 8' 

Ventil 

Swell-Pedal 8' coupler 

Great-Pedal 8' coupler 

Added to Swell bung-board 

"Great Melodia" 8', Tenor c 

"Fifteenth" 

"Gamba Great" 8', Tenor e 

"Flute Great" 8', chimney flute, 

Tenor c 

"Great Principal" 

Tenore, chimney flute, 

wood basses 

Wood 

Open Diapason 8'* "Great Open Diapason" 

(Swell-Great) 8' coupler 

(Great Octave Coupler) 4' coupler, Great-Great 

The case pipes all belong to the Great Open Diapason. 
From the C end, they are: B,A,G; ? (not f), d#, c#; F, C#, D#, 
D, E; c, d, e; F#, G#, A#. The five pipes in the center tower are 
of zinc, and the rest are of metal. They are all winded 
through channel-blocks, tubes having been kept to a 
minimum both in number and length. 

Despite the alterations, the outstanding quality of the 
organ is plain to be seen, one example being the use of 
channel-blocks rather than tubes. The lower case is framed 
in pine 3" thick, and there is not the slightest 
looseness in the joints of the chest bearers and supports. 
Pine was used throughout, except oak for the Great chest 
bearers and the drawstop levers, and walnut for the 
drawstops. The Pedal chests have narrow, deep channels 
and a compact set of squares at the forward end. The 
wooden pipes are finely made, particularly the Pedal rank, 
where end-joined planks are provided with splines, corners 
are pegged, and the largest pipes have separate upper lips. 
The toeboards for the manual chests are only ¾" thick. 

A few graffiti were found inside the organ, but no clue as 
to the builder, opus number, or date. The rebuilding was 
done by "C. P. Graves Portland Me. 1892." (on coupler 
backfall beam over manuals). A board bracing the top rear 
corner of the C-end case panel to the Swell box reads, "I. H. 
Miner" and "Chas. F. Wright Auburn, N.Y." as well as "C. B. 
Quick AAHS May 24, 1876 Student Organist Central 
Church." 

The necessity of completing the move on two Saturdays 
prevented study of many details. However, I hope this brief 
description may lead eventually to identification of the 
builder, and both a new home and new life for this fine old 
organ. 
2. An asterisk indicates a replacement stop face; parentheses, a missing stop 
face for which the name given here is conjecture. Under Description, quotes 
indicate information from the pipes. 
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Three New Organ Books Continued from page1B
couple down (as on Shoninger organs) and bass couplers 
sometimes couple up (as on some Estey Artist organs). On 
page 53, although Michel's Organ Atlas is a nice book of 
pictures, it contains numerous errors and is not reliable in 
dating organs. On page 99, the thinest cloth is best for 
behind grille work, and dense cloth or no sound cut-outs 
definitely does muffle the tone of the organ (just play the 
organ with the keyslip removed!). 

On page 103, in discussing electrification using Lee 
Suction Units, the only really satisfactory unit is their model 
RO-68. The smaller units do not produce enough suction. 
The author rightly favors bellows restoration to 
electrification; he might mention that artistic playing with 
the proper expression requires foot pumping. On page 170, 
when putting springs on mutes and swell shades, the author 
neglects to state that small pieces of felt should be put 
under the springs to prevent vibration. On page 200, the list 
of stops and their locations is not always correct (the 
Diapason set is often at the back; the Principal set at the 
front; the Choral, Bour.don, and Clarionet are often treble 
stops; and the Cornet a 2ft. bass stop.). On page 216, the 
operation of the valve-type tremolo is not correctly 
explained. 

Some organ restorers would modify certain procedures 
given in this book. For example, the best way to test for 
leaky reed cells is to play major and minor thirds 
throughout the keyboard, on each set of reeds, and listen 
for inner notes faintly sounding. On page 161, the reason 
sponge neoprene is unsatisfactory for covering pallets is that 
the pallet rods soon wear holes in it on the most-used notes, 
and the keys become very uneven. On page 173, instead of 
replacing the cloth hinges on couplers, two small brass 
hinges can be used on each coupler for a really permanent 
job. On page 175, octave coupler collars and their felt 
washers are available commercially at low cost, so it does 
not pay to make them. On page 182, the easiest way to 
remove old ivories is to grind them off carefully on a disk 
sander, and contact cement is excellent for fastening ivories 
to the keys. 

There are now three comprehensive reed organ books in 

English; "The Reed Organ: Its Design and Construction" by 
H. F. Milne; "The American Reed Organ" by Robert F. 
Gellerman; and "Restoring & Collecting Antique Reed 
Organs" by Horton Pressley. These three really supplement 
each other, and a reed organ restorer should have all three. 
(They are all available through the Organ literature 
Foundation, Braintree, Mass. 02184.) The Milne book gives 
detailed information on the construction of both pressure 
and suction type reed organs and directions for actually 
building a reed organ; his chapter on reed voicing and 
tuning is excellent. The Gellerman book gives the history of 
reed organs, many pictures of reed organs, and concise 
directions for restoration. The Pressley book gives 
abundant directions and many pictures as a step-by-step 
guide for reed organ restoration. 

THE NOACK ORGAN CO., INC. 

Main and School Streets 
Georgetown, Mass. 01833 

(617) 352-6266

NEW TRACKER ORGANS 
Kleuker organs in Maryland: 

Detlef Kleuker of Brackwede, Westfalen, Germany has 
installed a tracker-action organ in St. John's Evangelical 
Lutheran Church, 8808 Harford Road, Parkville, Baltimore. 

The instrument has 33 ranks disposed as follows: 

HAUPTWERK C-g3 (Manual II) RUCKPOSITIV C-g3 (Manual I) 
1. Prinzipal 8' 8. Gedackt 8' 
2. Rohrflote 8' 9. Prinzipal 4' 
3. Oktave 4' 10. Koppel/late 4' 
4. Nasard 2 2/3' 11. Oktave 2' 
5. Waldflote 2' 12. Quinte 1 1 /3' 
6. Mixtur VI 
7. Trompete 

PEDAL C-91 

16. Subbass
17. Prinzipal
18. Gedackt
19. Choralbass
20. Mixtur IV
21. Fagot!

2' 13. Sesqualtera II 
8' 14. Scharff IV

15. Krummhorn
16' 
8' 3 Normalkoppeln 
8' Schleifladen 
4' rein mechanische Trakturen 

2 2/3' Tremulant RP 
16' 

1' 
8' 

Continued on page 20 

RONALD WAHL, ORGAN BUILDER 
APPLETON, WISCONSIN 54911 

Bus.: - W. Broadway Dr. (414) .,'.734-7117 
Mail: - 804 E. South St. ( 414) 734-8238 

ROCHE ORGAN COMPANY, INC. 
P.O. Box 971, Taunton, Massachusetts 02780 

Plant: 799 West Water Street 

617-823-0236
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Organs at the St. Olaf Lutheran Church 
Continued from page 21 

Vocalion reed organ in the Rock Church. 

The Vocalion was a superior type of reed organ, far 
exceeding the average of that class of instrument in design, 
construction, and tonal quality.7 This particular example is 
provided with a facade of dummy pipes made of solid 
wood. Though still playable, its condition is poor. 

When the church building in Cranfills Gap was erected, it 
was decided that an instrument of greater musical 
capabilities was needed. Accordingly, the Vocal ion was left 
at the Rock Church and the firm of Kilgen was called upon 
to build a suitable organ. This instrument, in altered form, is 
still in service at St. Olaf's today. The nameplate reads "Geo. 
Kilgen & Son/Chas. G. Kilgen/St. Louis, Mo./U.S.A." The 
instrument was purchased through a Prof. J.W. Parnum of 
Waco, who also installed it. According to an unpublished 
history of the organ read at its rededication in 1970, Parnum 
was a graduate of the London Conservatory of Music and 
played the original dedicatory recital. Two members of the 
congregation were subsequently sent to Waco to study 
under Parnum with a view to serving as organists to the 
congregation. 

7For the history and development of this species of instrument, see James H. 
Richards, "The Vocal ion," The Diapason, August 1975, p. 5. See also Georgia 
and Dale Williams, "Restoration of a Vocalion," The Tracker 29 (Summer, 
1975): 12. 

Console and case of Kil gen organ at St. Olaf. The casework is of oak. 

As it stands today, the instrument does not represent the 
original intent of the builders, especially from a tonal view, 
for the organ underwent a rebuilding and modernization 
process in 1969-70. The action remains completely 
mechanical, the only electricity being utilized to drive the 
blower. The present thirty-two note concave radiating 
pedalboard was supplied during the rebuilding process; 
the original was very likely flat. As the existing chest and 
pipework allowed for only twenty-eight notes, the top four 
keys are dumb. The stops are controlled by drawknobs 
located in two tiers on either side of the single sixty-one 
note manual. The compass is from CC to c"'. The 
specification is as follows: 

Left Side 
Octave 4' 
Super Octave 2' 
Mixture Ill 

Principal 8' (lowest five notes 
are stopped pipes.) 

Sub Bass 16' 
Pedal Coupler 

(pull-down to manual) 

Right Side 
Dulciana 8' 

(lowest note is C) 
Unison Bass 

(lowest octave of Gedeckt) 
Gedeckt 8' 

(lowest note C) 
Spillflote 4' 

Continued on page 23 

In€ B1t€nT€nn11tL TRAtK€� 
192 pages of new material - soft covers - order fer your library, college, friends - a collectors item 

Send US$10.00 to OHS, P.O. Box 209, Wilmington, Ohio 45177 



Organs at the St. Olaf Lutheran Church 
Continued from page 22 

All ranks are enclosed except the Sub Bass and thirteen of 
the Principal pipes which form part of the nineteen-pipe 
facade. A balanced pedal controls the mechanically 
operated swell. Two other foot-operated levers or studs act 
as combination pedals; one brings on selected stops, while 
the other removes them. 

Some idea of the instrument's original specification may 
be gained from a letter from Robert L. Sipe, Inc., the firm 
which undertook the 1969 rebuilding operation.8 This 
document outlines the work deemed necessary at the time, 
and which was ultimately carried out. The original bellows 
was replaced with a "reservoir of modern design"; as 
noted, the pedalboard was replaced; worn felts and 
bushings in the action were renewed; the instrument was 
thoroughly cleaned; mechanical linkages were adjusted or 
replaced as needed; and tuning collars were installed on 
metal pipes. In addition, the Mixture and the 4' Spillfli:ite 
were supplied, along with sliders and toeboards. The 
present 8' Gedeckt replaced an 8' Melodia, and it was 
proposed to move the pipes of an existing 4' Flute an octave 
so as to play at 2' pitch. However, this idea seems to have 
given way to the installation of a 2' Superoctave. Finally, the 
existing Diapason and Octave stops were voiced to blend 
with the new pipework. The following stoplist may be 
deduced as the probable original specifications: 

Diapason 8' 

Octave 4' 

Melodia 8' 

Flute 4' 

Dulciana 8' 

Sub Bass 16' 

The instrument makes a splendid effect in the small 
sanctuary, despite its seemingly limited tonal resources. The 
Principal is particularly good, and the Principal Chorus is 
more effective than that found on far more pretentious 
instruments. A rededicatory recital was presented on 
March 15, 1970 to commemorate the completion of the 
work. Ruth Bakke of Texas Lutheran College played a 
program consisting of works by J. S. Bach, Franck, 
Buxtehude, Micheelson, Scarlatti, Mozart, and Nystedt. The 
organ continues in regular use today. 

&Robert L. Sipe, Inc. Organ Bilders. Proposal for St. Olaf Luthean Church, 
Cranfills Gap, Texas, July 15, 1968. St. Olaf Church Files, Cranfills Gap, Texas. 

BOOK REVIEWS 

UWe Pape: The Tracker Organ Revival in America. Berlin: 
Pape Verlag, 1978. 470p., profusely illustrated. 

Here is a most important publication for all who are 
concerned with history-in-the-making, made all the more 
interesting by the fact that its author is essentially an 
"outside observer", a European - and Europeans are 
traditionally not supposed to concern themselves with 
goings-on in "the colonies". Well, history is being made 
here, and Dr. Pape, well-known as a historian in his native 
Germany, is but one of many who are taking notice - and 
certainly, as this book proves, one of the most articulate. 

Published in both English and German, and with dual 
prefaces by Hermann Busch and E. A. Boadway, the book 
consists of six parts. Part I comprises articles by both 
Americans and Germans, some reprinted from other 
sources. Authors include John Fesperman, E. Power Biggs, 
C.B. Fisk, George Bozeman, and Alan Laufman, to mention

some who also happen to be OHS members. Part 11 is a list of 
American installations by European builders, and Part 111 the 
opus lists of American and Canadian builders ·of tracker 
action organs. The lists of Parts II and Ill are unusually 
exhaustive and complete, the only flaw being the inclusion 
of some rebuilt instruments in the lists of some American 
builders, for which Dr. Pape can hardly be faulted, since he 
requested only new installations and a complete checking 
out of the lists would have been impossible even for an 
American. Part IV consists of representative specifications, 
and part V of photographs of organs. Part VI is an appendix 
in which are contained biographies (and pictures) of organ 
builders, references, lists of societies and journals, and 
builders themselves, and include in some instances 
employees in some of the American firms. 

What we have in this book, then, is a documentation, 
essentially, of where we are and, to some extent, how we 
got there, as of A.D. 1978. Put together in a tasteful, 
scholarly, and well-organized manner, I predict that this 
volume will very speedily become an indispensible source­
book on the history and development of the American 
organ in the second half of the twentieth century. 

John R. Shannon Organ Literature of the Seventeenth 
Century. Raleigh: Sunbury Press, 1978. 310 pages, musical
illus. $22.00 

It seems unfortunately rare nowadays to encounter a 
scholarly book which accomplishes exactly what it sets out 
to do, and does so in a manner which is straightforward, 
lucid, and uncluttered. This is such a book. Subtitled "A 
Study of Its Styles", it adheres strictly to this format, treating 
the development and interaction of the various national 
and regional schools of organ composition historically and 
analytically. 

One suspects that Mr. Shannon may have originally been 
tempted to include such peripheral considerations as organ 
design and performance practice in his discussion, and he 
indeed makes an ever-so-slight apology for not doing so in 
his preface. In this readers' opinion, his decision to forego 
wanderings in these admittedly important and fascinating 
byways was a correct one. As a result, both he and the 
reader are thus allowed to concentrate without distraction 
on a single facet of the literature- its style. This is carefully 
analyzed and explained in a cleanly-written and well­
organized manner which is refeshingly free of pedantry 
and multi-footnoted pseudo-erudition. It is the work of a 
concerned and experienced teacher with a real interest in 
and love of the literature he is discussing. 

It is much to be hoped that this book will find its way into 
the hands of all serious students of organ music, for it will 
materially advance their understanding of a very important 
segment of the literature, written during one of the most 
important epochs of the organ's history. Beginning with the 
late Renaissance by way of introduction, Shannon discusses 
the literature of Italy, France, England, Spain & Portugal, 
Netherlands & North Germany, Middle & South Germany. 
With few exceptions, his musical references are made to 
accessible, presently-in-print sources, and a Bibliography of 
these modern editions is to be found at the end of the book, 
along with a Glossary of the various stylistic terms referred 
to in the text. If you are an organ teacher, you should own 
this book - and perhaps buy one as a Christmas present for 
your best student! 

- Barbara Owen
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Council then directed the treasurer to pay 'the printers 
bill of $144.56 on the extra 1977 convention booklets.' 

Council asked 'Thomas Finch to type up a new set of 
Revised Rules and Suggestions for Convention Chairmen in 
time for the next council meeting.' 

Council then made the following appointments: E. A. 
Boadway as chairman of the nominating committee (he is to 
choose two committee members), Tim Watters and Earl 
Naylor as election tellers, and Bob Roche and Larry 
Trupiano as auditors of the treasury records. 

The meeting adjourned at 5:25 P.M. The next meeting 
will be held in Haddonfield, New Jersey, September 9, 1978, 
at 9:30 A.M. 

Respectfully submitted, 

James R. McFarland, secretary 

MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL 

MEETING OF THE 

ORGAN HISTORICAL SOCIETY 

JUNE 27, 1978 

Lowell, Massachusetts 

The meeting was called to order at 9:27 A.M. after those 
present sang "The Lord's My Shepherd" to the tune 
"Brother James' Air." The meeting commenced with a 
moment of silence in remembrance of Cleveland Fisher. 
Madeleine Gaylor presented flowers and a most 
appropriate eulogy in honor of Mr. Fisher. 

The president appointed Homer Blanchard as 
parliamentarian for the meeting. 

The minutes of the previous annual meeting were 
accepted as they appeared in THE TRACKER. The secretary 
recapitulated the events of the council meeting on the 
previous day. 

Reports from officers and committee chairmen were 
presented and accepted with thanks. The readings of 
several of these reports prompted spontaneous rounds of 
applause. At the close of the archivist's report, the meeting 
carried a motion 'thanking Homer Blanchard for his 
ceaseless efforts.' Of particular note among the chapter 
reports was the announcement by the Central New York 
Chapter that their member Dana Cartwright will match 
OHS historic organ recital grants in the central New York 
area. Details from other reports may be found in the 
previous day's council minutes. 

The appointment of John Ogasapian as the new chairman 
of research and publications was announced. A testimonial 
was presented by Alan Laufman concerning the former 
chairman's efforts and achievements. The meeting 
responded with a round of applause for Ed Boadway. 

Member Richard Hedgebeth described his efforts 
towards preservation of the Springfield Symphony Hall 
Steere Organ. His discoveries about the working of the U.S. 
Government in the direction of matters historical prompted 
the meeting to carry his motion 'that applicable portions of 

the "National Register Criteria for Historic Significance" be 
adopted as the policy of the historic organs committee of 
the OHS for the citation and recognition program.' It is 
hoped that this will fascilitate cooperation from the federal 
government in the future. A second and cojunct motion by 
Mr. Hedgebeth was also carried 'to direct the national 
council to look into the society upgrading its membership 
with the National Trust.' 

A motion was brought to the floor 'that the annual 
meeting suspend the action of the council on expenditure 
for audio equipment for one year at which time it will be 
subject to review at the next annual meeting.' After 
considerable discussion the motion was brought to a vote 
and failed to carry. 

A petition was presented for a Mid-Hudson Chapter 
which was 'accepted pending receipt of their by-laws.' 

The election tellers announced the following results: For 
treasurer, Donald Rockwood; for secretary, James R. 
McFarland; for councillors, William Van Pelt and Samuel 
Walter. A motion was then passed to destroy the ballots. 

The auditors reported that all was in order with the 
treasurer's books, prompting the meeting's vote to close 
the books. 

The meeting adjourned at 11 :25 A.M. 

Respectfully submitted, 
James McFarland, secretary 

REPORT OF THE TREASURER 

FISCAL YEAR JUNE 1, 1977 - MAY 31, 1978 

(Condensed) 

ASSETS: Cash (Checking & Savings) 
Equipment & Other Assets 
Inventories 

Tota I Assets 

LIABILITIES: None 
RETAINED EARNINGS: 

Balance 6/1/77 
Add: Inventory Revaluation 

net Income for year 

Balance May 31, 1978 

$31,923.67 
3,438.67 
4,146.57 

TOTAL LIABILITIES & RETAINED EARNING 

$12,462.25 
649.19 

26,397.47 

$39,508.91 

-0-

$39,508.91 
$39,508.91 

Statement of Income & Expenses 

RECEIPTS: Memberships 
Other 

EXPENSES: Printing & Projects 

Total 

NET INCOME FOR PERIOD ENDED 

MAY 31, 1978 

$12,710.21 
3,546.76 

$16,256.97 

$12,110.40 12,110.40 

$ 4,146.57 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Donald C. Rockwood, Treasurer 
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